1997

# Marion Marsh v. Scott Allan Marsh : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**I. JURISDICTION**

The authority which confers jurisdiction on this Court to hear this appeal from the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County is Section 78-2a-3(2)(h), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, and the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure No. 3(a).

**II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

This is an appeal from a April 17, 1997 decision of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County which requires Appellant Scott Allan Marsh, ("Mr. Marsh") to pay Marion Marsh, ("Mrs. Marsh") a percentage of the separation pay he received as a result of his involuntary separation from the U.S. Navy. In addition, Mr. Marsh appeals from a decision of the Trial Court which allowed Mrs. Marsh to default on her payments of a loan in which she agreed to hold Mr. Marsh harmless thus violating the Decree of Divorce dated August 16, 1989.

### III. QUESTIONS OF LAW AND FACT

A. SHOULD A MILITARY SEPARATION PAYMENT MADE UNDER 10 U.S.C. §1174 AND RELATED STATUTES BE TREATED AS A PENSION OR RETIREMENT PAYMENT WHEN STATUTORILY IT WAS NOT MADE SUCH A BENEFIT AND WAS INTENDED TO ASSIST THE DISCHARGED INDIVIDUAL IN HIS RE-ENTRY INTO CIVILIAN LIFE? This is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Doelle v. Bradley*, 784 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1989); *Lake Philgas Service v. Valley Bank*, 845 P.2d 955, (Utah App. 1993); *Marchant v. Park City*, 771 P.2d 677 (Utah App. 1989).

B. SINCE THE SEPARATION BENEFIT APPELLANT RECEIVED MUST BE REPAID IN THE EVENT THE DISCHARGED INDIVIDUAL BECOMES ELIGIBLE FOR RETIREMENT BENEFITS, MUST THE APPELLEE BE REQUIRED TO

**CONTRIBUTE TO THE REPAYMENT IF SHE RECEIVES ANY OF THE SEPARATION PAY?** This is a question of law which the Trial Court failed to properly decide and is reviewed for correctness. *Doelle v. Bradley*, 784 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1989); *Lake Philgas Service v. Valley Bank*, 845 P.2d 955, (Ut. App. 1993); *Marchant v. Park City*, 771 P.2d 677 (Utah App. 1989).

**C. IS MRS. MARSH'S FAILURE TO HOLD MR. MARSH HARMLESS FROM DEBTS AGAINST THE MARITAL RESIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF HER OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE DEGREE OF DIVORCE JUSTIFYING AN AWARD OF SANCTIONS AGAINST HER?** This is a mixed question of law and fact to be reviewed factually and for correctness. *Marchant v. Park City*, 771 P.2d 677 (Utah App. 1989); *Lake Philgas Service v. Valley Bank*, 845 P.2d 955, (Ut. App. 1993); *Gillmor v. Wright*, 850 P.2d 422 (Utah 1993); *Matter of Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885 (Utah 1989).

#### **IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND SUPPORTING AUTHORITIES**

All of the foregoing issues for review on this Appeal present questions of law for determination by this Appeals Court. For the purposes of this appeal there are very limited factual disputes. This appeal is based on the Trial Court's order requiring Mr. Marsh to pay a percentage of his separation pay to Mrs. Marsh as though such pay were part of a Pension or

Retirement Benefit when according to the applicable statutes, Separation pay is not the same as a retirement benefit since the requirements for receiving Separation pay and the formula for calculating the payments are different. This appeal is also based on the Trial Court's order allowing Mrs. Marsh to avoid her obligations of the divorce decree by refusing to hold Mr. Marsh harmless in regard to the debt on the marital residence.

The standard for review (where the appeal as here presented is essentially on issues of law and interpretation of statutes) is that upon review, no deference is given to the trial court statements, conclusions, rulings, or interpretations and the Appellate Court is free to render its independent interpretation and review for Correctness. *Doelle v. Bradley*, 784 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1989); *Mountain Fuel Supply Co. v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 752 P.2d 884 (Utah 1988); *Faulkner v. Faulkner*, 714 P.2d 1149 (Utah 1986); *Arnold Machinery Co. v. Balls*, 624 P.2d 678 (Utah 1981).

In this case, the facts on both issues are not in dispute. Mr. Marsh received a separation payment upon his involuntary termination from the military. The Trial Court erred in considering this as a Retirement or Pension benefit. In such an instance the appellate court need not grant any deference to the trial court when "even if viewed in the light most favorable to the trial court, the evidence is legally insufficient to support

the findings." *Doelle v. Bradley*, 784 P.2d 1176, 1178 (Utah 1989).

In addition, the Trial Court erred in determining that the obligations of the divorce decree were contingent upon one another and that failure of one justified failure of another. Under U.C.A. §30-3-5(1)(c) the divorce decree must specify which party is responsible for the payment of joint debts and provisions for the enforcement of these orders. The Marsh's Divorce Decree provides that in the event Mr. Marsh fell 30 days or more in arrears on his support payments, Mrs. Marsh was entitled to mandatory income withholding relief. This is the only remedy permitted by the decree and the Trial Court erred in determining that Mr. Marsh's arrearage was justification for Mrs. Marsh's failure to maintain her obligation of holding him harmless from the mortgage.

#### **V. DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES**

Statutes determinative of Mr. Marsh's first issue are 10 U.S.C. §§627-1174 and §1408 (Exhibit A) which govern Separation Pay and Pension and Retirement Benefits from the U.S. Military. While no Utah Cases have been found on point, the California case of Kuzmiak v. Kuzmiak, 222 Cal. Rptr. 644 (CA 2nd, Calif 1986) is directly on point. (Exhibit B)



The statute determinative of Mr. Marsh's second issue is U.C.A. §30-3-5 which proscribes that upon divorce debts are to be divided, and the Decree of Divorce must contain provisions for failure to meet financial obligations. The Divorce Decree provides that if Mr. Marsh fails to pay child support, Mrs. Marsh is entitled to mandatory withholding to satisfy the payments.

## **VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 16, 1989, Marion Marsh and Scott Allan Marsh were divorced. (R. at 38, Exhibit C at 6). The relevant portions of the Divorce Decree awarded Marion Marsh "11/40ths of all pension and retirement benefits that the [Mr. Marsh] may receive upon his retirement from military service." (Divorce Decree, R. at 43, Exhibit C at 6; R. at 462, Exhibit D at 2). This included only retirement and pensions and was silent as to separation pay. In addition Mrs. Marsh was awarded the marital residence. (R. at 43, Exhibit C at 6). With the home, she assumed the debt of \$75,000 with Fleet Mortgage and the Veterans Administration and was ordered to hold Mr. Marsh harmless on the financial obligation. (R. at 44, Exhibit C at 7). In addition, Mr. Marsh was ordered to pay alimony and child support. (R. at 41-42, Exhibit C at 4-5).

In November, 1991, Mr. Marsh was involuntarily discharged from his employment with the United States Navy. (Tr. at 52,

Exhibit E at 52). Pursuant to 10 U.S.C. §1174, Mr. Marsh was given separation pay in the amount of \$30,000. Mr. Marsh treated the separation pay as such and not a pension or retirement payment and did not pay Mrs. Marsh 11/40ths of the payment. While the military referred to the payment as a pension plan on his W-2 form, Mr. Neil Crist, ("Mr. Crist"), a retired Air Force Colonel and the expert at the hearing on this matter, acknowledged that the W-2 form did not contain an appropriate place on the form to enter military separation pay. He indicated that under the circumstances, the Retirement/Pension line is where an individual would likely be instructed to enter the payment. (Tr. at 66, Exhibit E at 66).

Mrs. Marsh contends that she was entitled to 11/40ths of the separation pay as part of a pension or retirement plan. (R. at 283, Exhibit F at 3). Commissioner Michael Evans recommended a ruling in favor of Mrs. Marsh. At the trial, Mr. Crist, a retired colonel with the Air Force, testified as an expert witness. (Tr. at 25, Exhibit E at 25). He testified that separation pay and retirement were treated differently by the Military, but that in his opinion the separation pay was an "advancement on retirement". (Tr. at 48-50, Exhibit E at 48-50).

On June 9, 1997, the Honorable Leslie Lewis ordered that Mrs. Marsh be awarded 11/40ths of the disbursement received by Defendant in 1991, together with interest. (R. at 460, Exhibit G

at 7). Mr. Marsh appeals from that decision on the grounds that the payment he received was a separation payment and was not a pension or retirement benefit.

In addition, Mrs. Marsh breached her obligation under the Divorce Decree by failing to make the mortgage payments and allowing the mortgage company to foreclose on the marital residence. (Veterans Affairs Letter of August 25, 1993, R. at 200, Exhibit H at 1). Mrs. Marsh contends that her failure to make the mortgage payment was a direct result of Mr. Marsh's late support payments. (R. at 206, Exhibit I at 3). Commissioner Michael Evans recommended that Mrs. Marsh not be held in contempt for her failure to hold Mr. Marsh harmless on the debt. (Minute Entry, R. at 239, Exhibit J). Mr. Marsh objected to the commissioner's ruling.

The Trial Court found that since Appellant was in arrears in his support at the time Appellee permitted the foreclosure, the Appellee had not failed in her duty under the Decree of Divorce. (R. at 454, Exhibit G at 2-3). Mr. Marsh appeals from this order on the grounds that the elements of a divorce decree are treated individually and an arrearage in support on his part does not justify her breach of the order to hold him harmless on the mortgage payment.

The Decree of Divorce provides Mrs. Marsh a remedy in the event that Mr. Marsh gets behind on his support payments. The

Decree states "if the Defendant falls thirty (30) days or more in arrears in his child support obligation, the Plaintiff should be entitled to mandatory income withholding relief pursuant to Utah Code Annotated (78-45(d)-1 et. seq.) (1984 as amended). (Tr. at 41, Exhibit E at 41). This is her exclusive remedy and does not provide her the option of defaulting on her mortgage payment and allowing the mortgage company to foreclose on the house which is held jointly with Mr. Marsh.

Mr. Marsh appeals from this decision on the grounds that obligations of a divorce decree are individual obligations which are not contingent upon the other obligations. Mr. Marsh has made up payment of all arrearages. In addition, at the time of the hearing on this matter, Mr. Marsh was current on his child support obligations as acknowledged by Mrs. Marsh's attorney. (Tr. at 14, Exhibit E at 14).

#### **VII. SUMMARY OF APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT ON APPEAL**

A military separation payment made under 10 U.S.C. §1174 and related statutes should not be treated as a pension or retirement payment when statutorily it was not made such a benefit and was intended to assist the individual in his re-entry into civilian life. At the Commissioner's recommendation, the trial court ruled that the payment Mr. Marsh received when he was involuntarily terminated from his military service was divisible

as part of the retirement and pension described in the Divorce Decree.

Congress and the military have statutorily dealt with involuntary separations by creating a separation payment. This payment is different from a retirement or pension because retirement requires 20 years of service in the military while the separation pay requires only 6 years of service. While the expert testified that this separation was, in his opinion, an "advancement on retirement," that implies that everyone who receives a separation payment will receive retirement. That is clearly not the case. Mr. Marsh appeals the Trial Court's decision on the ground that the Court erred in considering the money a retirement benefit when it was, in fact, paid as a separation payment pursuant to 10 U.S.C. §1174.

If Mr. Marsh subsequently retires from the military, a portion of his retirement pay will be applied toward the amount he received upon his separation from the military. If Mrs. Marsh receives 11/40ths of the separation pay, Mr. Marsh will be paying her 11/40ths of the money he may later be required to pay back. If Mr. Marsh is currently required to pay Mrs. Marsh her 11/40ths of the separation pay, in equity she must be required to pay back 11/40ths out of her portion of the retirement in the event that the repayment becomes necessary.

Mr. Marsh also appeals the order of the trial court which holds him responsible for the foreclosure on the marital residence in spite of the fact that in the Divorce Decree orders Mrs. Marsh to hold him harmless on that mortgage. The Trial Court found that she was not in contempt for breaching her obligation based on the fact that Mr. Marsh was behind in his support payments. Mr. Marsh contends that the obligations in a divorce decree are separate and should not be contingent upon one another. In addition, at the time of the hearing on this matter, Mr. Marsh had repaid all arrearages and was current in his support obligations.

#### **VIII. APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS**

##### **ARGUMENT I**

Under 10 U.S.C. §1174, Military Separation Payments are treated separate and apart from retirement and pensions and should be treated separately under a decree of divorce. Separation pay upon involuntary discharge or release from active duty is defined by §1174 to include termination of an individual "who has completed six or more but less than twenty, years of active service immediately before that discharge." It does not apply to those who have worked with the military in excess of 20 years who are entitled to retirement.

The separation pay is computed as "10 percent of the product of A) his years of active service, and B) 12 times the monthly basic pay to which he was entitled at the time of his discharge or release from active duty." The statute further provides that if the discharged employee eventually collects retirement benefits, a percentage of those benefits will be deducted until the amount of the separation pay has been repaid. (10 U.S.C. §1174 (h)). (Exhibit A ).

Pursuant to the Divorce Decree dated August 16, 1989, Mrs. Marsh is entitled to 11/40ths of Mr. Marsh's retirement benefits "upon his retirement from military service." (Tr. at 43, Exhibit E at 6.) Mrs. Marsh cites the case of Woodward v. Woodward, 456 P.2d 431, (considering retirement benefits a marital asset) as controlling in this matter. The Divorce Decree clearly addresses how retirement benefits should be divided. That division of retirement benefits is not applicable here since Congress specifically has determined the separation payment to not be a retirement benefit.

In the hearing on this matter, Mrs. Marsh's expert, Neil Crist, testified that the separation pay and retirement are handled differently since someone who receives the separation payment will not necessarily receive retirement. Among other possibilities, this would occur if the individual did not

complete 20 years of service in the Reserves or if the individual did not reach the age of 60.

Mr. Crist testified that in his opinion, based on the repayment plan, the separation pay was an "advancement on the retirement." (Tr. at 49, Exhibit E at 49). An advancement, however, implies that the individual would later receive retirement. As Mr. Crist admitted, this may not be the case. (Tr. at 67, Exhibit E at 67). In the instance that the individual does not reach retirement age, the money is not repaid. Mr. Crist also acknowledged that \$1174 relates to severance and separation pay and not retirement and pension.

Mr. Marsh was released from active duty in the Navy under 10 U.S.C. §632 commonly known as the "up or out" policy. Section 632 provides in part:

(a) Each officer. . .who holds the regular grade of captain or major. . .who has failed of selection for promotion to the next higher regular grade for the second time and whose name is not on a list of officers recommended for promotion to the next higher regular grade shall be discharged on the date requested by him and approved by the Secretary concerned, which date shall be not later than the first day of the seventh calendar month beginning after the month in which the President approves the report of the board which considered him for the second time.

As a result of his involuntary discharge, Mr. Marsh was given a separation payment of \$30,000 (before taxes), as provided in 10 U.S.C. §1174. These benefits are provided for discharged employees who are not eligible for retirement because of their years of service.



Utah does not have any case law relating to military separation pay but the California case of Kuzmiak v. Kuzmiak, 222 Cal. Rptr. 644 (Cal.App.2Dist. 1986) is precisely on point. (Exhibit B). The facts of the Kuzmiak case are very similar to the present case. While California (like Utah) recognizes a marital interest in retirement benefits earned during the marriage, the court held "that unlike military benefits based upon longevity of service, separation pay does not serve to compensate for past services. Although longevity of service determines the amount of this one-time payment, the right to separation pay occurs only when there is an involuntary discharge of the service member." Id at 646. The court further went on to state that the legislative history of §1174 shows that:

the separation pay is a contingency payment for an officer who is career committed but to whom a full military career may be denied. It is designed to encourage him to pursue his service ambition, knowing that if he is denied a full career under the competitive system he can count on an adequate readjustment pay to ease his reentry into civilian life.

Id. at 646, (quoting House Rep. No. 96-1462, reprinted in 1980 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News. P. 6333, 6361.) The court concluded that it was "satisfied that Congress did not intend separation pay to be compensation for past services. . . the payment is the separate property of the service member." Id. at 647.

While Crist testified that it was clear in his mind that what Mr. Marsh received was severance or separation pay, Mrs. Marsh contends that it was a retirement benefit since Mr. Marsh indicated it as such on his W-2 form. The W-2 form does not contain a category for separation pay so as Mr. Crist indicated, the retirement line would be the appropriate place to include separation pay. (Tr. at 66, Exhibit E at 66).

The \$30,000 that Mr. Marsh received was compensation for his separation from the military under 10 U.S.C. §1174. (Exhibit A). It was designed to give him the opportunity to work back into civilian life. Although Mr. Marsh indicated on his tax form that the payment was retirement, the form did not provide an appropriate place for the entry of this figure. Since the amount paid to Mr. Marsh was separation pay as a part of his involuntary discharge, the reasoning used in the Kuzmiak case should be applied to determine that separation pay is not compensation for past services and is consequently not divisible in the divorce decree.

If Mrs. Marsh is awarded 11/40ths of the separation pay, the issue arises about the repayment. In the event that Mr. Marsh becomes eligible for retirement, he will be required to repay the separation pay, and Mrs. Marsh will receive 11/40ths of the retirement. Equity requires that Mrs. Marsh be required to participate in the repayment if she receives part of the

separation pay. If she receives her 11/40ths of the separation pay, she should be required to repay 11/40ths when and if she receives retirement benefits.

## ARGUMENT II

Mr. Marsh appeals the Trial Court's decision making Mrs. Marsh's obligation to hold him harmless on the mortgage contingent on his payment of child support. Each party's duties were separate under the Decree of Divorce but the Trial Court has refused to enforce Appellee's duty to hold Appellant harmless on the mortgage obligation. As a result, Mr. Marsh or someone on his behalf must repay the Department of Veteran's Affairs the sum of \$12,870.96 before the Appellant can once again be eligible for Veteran's loans. (Exhibit H).

Cases concerning the separate obligations of a divorce decree deal primarily with linking child support with visitation. The Utah Supreme Court in the case of Rohr v. Rohr, 709 P.2d 382 (Utah 1985) cited various jurisdictions and concluded that "A court may not deny the noncustodial parent visitation rights for the mere failure to pay child support, where the failure to pay is due to an inability to pay." The court in that case, however, ruled against the non-supporting parent because there was no evidence that he was unable to provide for the child, he had

abused his visitation rights and that his conduct was detrimental to the child. The court clearly indicated that the restrictions on the father's visitation rights were a result of plaintiff's "willful and intentional failure to support his child and his contumacy with respect to a court-ordered visitation schedule and attempt to forcefully remove the child from the custodial parent."

The Utah Court of Appeals in Dana v. Dana, 789 P.2d 726 (Utah App. 1990) further separated the obligations of child support and visitation by ruling that a father who did not meet his visitation schedule could not be required to pay additional child support. In child support and visitation cases, courts have treated each obligation as separate and not contingent upon one another. *Kane v. Kane*, 391 P.2d 361 (Colo. 1964); *Wilson v. Wilson*, 252 P.2d 197, (Idaho 1953); *Garris V. McDuffie*, 344 SE.2d 186 (SC App. 1986). This is similar to our present case where provisions of a Divorce Decree should not be conditional upon one another unless the decree specifically links them.

The Divorce Decree provided Mrs. Marsh a remedy in the event of an arrearage in support payments. The Decree states "if the Defendant falls thirty (30) days or more in arrears in his child support obligation, the Plaintiff should be entitled to mandatory income withholding relief pursuant to Utah Code Annotated (78-45(d)(1) et. seq.) (1984 as amended)." This provides her an

exclusive remedy for collecting support. It does not, however, provide her justification to evade her obligations under the Decree.

In the Affidavit of Scott Marsh, Dated October 7, 1997, Mr. Marsh testified that he has been current in the payment of his support obligations since 1992 except when the Court ordered retroactive support. At that time he quickly paid off any arrearages the court determined were owed. (Exhibit K). Mr. Marsh's arrearages were less than the debt Mrs. Marsh owes on the foreclosure of the home.

Even if Mr. Marsh had been totally delinquent in his support payments, which he was not, that does not justify Mrs. Marsh's delinquency on the mortgage payment since her obligation to hold him harmless was not contingent upon his duty to pay support. Because Mr. Marsh has repaid all his arrearages, including interest, and has made Mrs. Marsh whole, it is now her obligation to make Mr. Marsh whole by repaying the debt of \$12,870.96. Mr. Marsh has remained current in his support and has fulfilled his obligations under the Divorce Decree and is entitled to the same fulfillment of obligations from Mrs. Marsh.

The obligations of the Divorce Decree are separate obligations and should be treated as such. The mere fact that Mr. Marsh was behind in his child support payments does not justify Mrs. Marsh's refusal to pay the mortgage payment and the

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