1997

# Marion Marsh v. Scott Allan Marsh : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The parties to this action were married for approximately fifteen years. The Divorce Decree awarded Appellee 11/40ths of Appellant's military retirement benefits. Upon being involuntarily separated from the military, Appellant elected to receive \$30,000.00 in separation pay. At the time of trial, Appellant had completed twenty years of service in the military. Therefore, his retirement benefits had vested.

Under 10 U.S.C. §1174, because Appellant elected to receive separation pay, and because he later reenlisted and earned his retirement benefits, Appellant must pay back the separation pay through deductions from his retirement benefits. Therefore, the trial court correctly ruled that, because Appellant's retirement benefits had vested at the time of trial, this separation pay was an advance on his retirement benefits and Appellee was entitled to her 11/40ths share.

In addition, the trial court was within its discretion in

denying Appellant's objection to Commissioner Evan's ruling restricting Appellant's rights under the Divorce Decree and denying Appellant's motion to hold Appellee in contempt. The Divorce Decree ordered Appellant to pay family support and Appellee to hold Appellant harmless on a mortgage. Appellant intentionally refused to pay the court-ordered family support. This intentional refusal caused Appellee to be unable to pay the mortgage payments. Because Appellee was unable to make the payments due to Appellant's inequitable conduct, the court was within its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for contempt. In addition, the trial court was within its discretion in restricting Appellant's rights under the Divorce Decree because "equity refuses to lend its aid to a party whose conduct is inequitable."

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT APPELLEE WAS ENTITLED TO 11/40THS OF APPELLANT'S SEPARATION PAY.

"Marital property 'encompasses all of the assets of every nature possessed by the parties, whenever obtained and from whatever source derived; and this includes any such pension fund or insurance." Gardner v. Gardner, 748 P.2d 1076, 1079 (Utah 1988) (quoting Englert v. Englert, 576 P.2d 1274 (Utah 1978)). Utah's definition of marital property includes deferred compensation. See Gardner, 748 P.2d at 1078-79; Woodward v.

Woodward, 656 P.2d 431, 432-33 (Utah 1982). "The essential criterion is whether a right to the benefit has accrued in whole or in part during the marriage. To the extent the right has so accrued it is subject to equitable distribution." Woodward, 656 P.2d 432-33.

The parties' Divorce Decree awarded Appellee 11/40ths of all pension and retirement benefits that Appellant may receive. During the parties' fifteen year marriage, Appellant accrued an interest in a military pension. In addition, during the marriage, Appellant accrued the right to elect to receive separation pay based on his years of service. If Appellant elected to take the separation pay, and in the event that Appellant would qualify for retirement, 10 U.S.C. §1174(h) would require that the separation pay amount would be withheld from the retirement benefits until paid off.

**A member who has received separation pay under this section, or separation pay, severance pay, or readjustment pay under any other provision of law, based on service in the armed forces, and who later qualifies for retired or retainer pay under this title or title 14 shall have deducted from each payment of such retired or retainer pay so much of such pay as is based on the service pay under this section or separation pay, severance pay, or readjustment pay under any other provision of law until the total amount deducted is equal to the total amount of separation pay, severance pay, and readjustment pay received.** 10 U.S.C. §1174(h) (1) (emphasis added).

Appellant did elect to take the separation pay in the amount of \$30,000.00 upon being involuntarily discharged. The separation pay was treated as an advance on his retirement by

Appellant on his W-2 form and by the IRS. In addition, Appellant did qualify for retirement benefits after reenlisting in the reserve and prior to trial in this matter. (Transcript at 70, Appellant's Testimony, Aplt. Exhibit "E"). Therefore, under §1174, prior to Appellant or Appellee receiving their respective shares of the retirement benefits, the \$30,000.00 would have to be deducted from the retirement benefits. This is achieved by deducting 75% of every payment until the \$30,000.00 is repaid. (Transcript at 42, Aplt. Exhibit "E").

Mr. Crist, the expert witness in this case estimated that Appellant's retirement benefit would be around \$1,800.00 per month. (Transcript at 44, Aplt.. Exhibit "E"). Appellee's 11/40ths share of this would be \$495.00 per month. Because Appellant elected to take the separation pay, 75% of the retirement benefits will be withheld until this amount is paid back. Therefore, \$1,350.00 will be withheld, reducing Appellee's 11/40ths to \$123.75 per month. This will continue until the \$30,000.00 is paid off, approximately two years. If Appellee is not awarded her share of the separation pay, this will have the effect of causing an enormous hardship and injustice by reducing Appellee's share of the retirement benefits and keeping Appellee from being made whole, as well as requiring Appellee to pay back 11/40ths of the \$30,000.00 for Appellant.

Appellant argues that military retirement pay and separation

pay are not related and must be handled separately because "someone who receives the separation payment will not necessarily receive retirement." However, in the present case, Appellant, at the time of trial, had qualified for retirement. (Transcript at 70, Appellant's Testimony, Aplt. Exhibit "E"). Therefore, Appellant **will** receive retirement benefits. In addition, because Appellant qualified for retirement benefits, these benefits are **substantially** related to the separation pay under §1174(h). Once Appellant qualified for retirement benefits, the separation pay became an advance on retirement under §1174, which would have to be repaid through deductions from the retirement benefits.

Appellant also argues that while Utah does not have any case law concerning separation pay, the California case of Kuzmiak "is precisely on point." Kuzmiak v. Kuzmiak, 222 Cal. Rptr. 644 (Cal. App. 2d 1986), cert. denied 479 U.S. 885 (1986). However, in Kuzmiak, at the time of trial, the husband was not entitled to retirement benefits because he had not completed his 20 years of service. Id. at 645. In our case, Appellant was entitled to retirement benefits at the time of trial.

While the Kuzmiak case did not directly concern this issue, the California case did discuss the possibility of someone who took a separation pay and then reenlisted and subsequently earned retirement benefits.

If a member reenlists after involuntary discharge and subsequently receives a longevity pension after serving 20



years, the purposes of the separation pay have not been fulfilled. Subdivision (h)(1) of section 1174 recognizes this by compelling reimbursement of separation pay from the members retirement payments. **There is no reason for finding separation pay to be the member's separate property once the member reenlists and earns a longevity pension.** Kuzmiak, 222 Cal. Rptr. at 647 (emphasis added).

This is exactly what happened in the present case. Appellant elected to take his separation pay. He reenlisted. He earned his retirement benefits. Therefore, under the Kuzmiak reasoning, there is **no reason** for finding Appellant's separation pay to be Appellant's separate property.

Appellant argues that the Kuzmiak court "concluded" that separation pay is the separate property of the service member. However, while this may be true for service members who have not qualified for retirement yet, this is a misstatement of the "conclusion" of the Kuzmiak court. The Kuzmaik conclusion is clearly stated on page 648 of the decision. It states:

For these reasons, we **conclude** that wife has a community property interest in husband's longevity pension, including the \$30,000 separation pay the government will withhold from his retirement benefits. This holding recognizes the separate property characteristic of the separation pay **(until husband's actions in reenlisting and earning a longevity pension)** and also protects wife's rights to a community property asset. Kuzmiak, 222 Cal. Rptr. at 648 (emphasis added).

Therefore, the Kuzmiak holding supports the trial court in the present case that if the service member reenlists and earns retirement benefits, the separation pay becomes an advance on the retirement benefits under §1174, and as such, Appellee is

entitled to her 11/40ths share of the separation pay.

While separation pay is generally separate property, once a service member, such as Appellant, reenlists and earns a retirement benefit, the separation pay becomes an advance on the retirement benefits as held by the trial court and Kuzmiak, and must be repaid through retirement pay deductions under §1174. Retirement benefits are marital property subject to distribution under Woodward. Appellee was awarded 11/40ths of Appellant's retirement benefits by the Divorce Decree. Therefore, the trial court correctly awarded Appellee 11/40ths of the separation pay as "an advance on retirement pay . . . accrued during marriage." (Transcript at 97, Appt. Exhibit "E").

A. UNDER §1174 APPELLEE WILL PARTICIPATE IN THE REPAYMENT OF THE SEPARATION PAY.

Appellant next argues that if Appellee is awarded 11/40ths of the separation pay, she should have to participate in the repayment. This is already provided for by 10 U.S.C. §1174. As stated above, because Appellant elected to receive separation pay and then reenlisted and qualified for retirement benefits, the separation pay will be repaid through deductions from the retirement benefits. Thus, 75% of the retirement pay is withheld until the \$30,000.00 is repaid. Therefore, if the retirement benefit is \$1,800.00, \$1,350.00 will be withheld. During the repayment time, Appellee will receive \$123.75 and Appellant will

receive \$326.25. Had Appellant not elected to receive the separation pay, Appellee would have received \$495.00 per month while Appellant would have received \$1305.00 per month. Therefore, during the repayment time, Appellee is repaying \$371.25 (\$495.00 - \$123.75) per month, which is exactly 11/40ths of \$1,350.00 (\$371.25 / \$1,350.00), the entire repayment amount per month. Therefore, once the retirement benefits begin to be paid out, Appellee will repay her 11/40ths share of the separation pay thereby making both parties whole.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO HOLD APPELLEE IN CONTEMPT WHERE APPELLANT INTENTIONALLY REFUSED TO PAY COURT-ORDERED SUPPORT TO APPELLEE CAUSING HER INABILITY TO MAKE PAYMENTS ON THE MORTGAGE.

"It is generally accepted that the issuance of an order relating to contempt of court is discretionary with the trial judge." Kunzler v. O'Dell, 855 P.2d 270, 275 (Utah App. 1993) (citing Bartholomew v. Bartholomew, 548 P.2d 238, 240 (Utah 1976)). "To find contempt, the court must find from clear and convincing proof that the contemnor knew what was required, **had the ability to comply**, and willfully and knowingly failed and refused to do so." Id. (citing Von Hake v. Thomas, 759 P.2d 1162, 1172 (Utah 1988)) (emphasis added).

The Decree of Divorce awarded child support and alimony to Appellee. The Decree also ordered Appellee to hold Appellant

harmless on the mortgage secured by the parties' marital residence. Appellant intentionally<sup>1</sup> refused to pay his court ordered family support, thereby causing extreme hardship on Appellee and the parties' four children. By November, 1992, Appellant was \$7,637.00 in arrears.

During the period when Appellant refused to pay his family support obligations, and as a result of Appellant's refusal, Appellee could not keep the mortgage on the home current. (Affidavit, R. at 210). As a result of Appellee's inability to make the payments and due to Appellant's refusal to pay his ordered support obligations, the home was foreclosed. However, on December 13, 1993, by Appellant's request, **the outstanding debt on the home was waived** by the Veterans' Administration so that Appellant would not have to pay anything on the loan deficiency. (Letter, R. at 227). The trial court found that because Appellee's inability to pay the mortgage payments was a direct result of Appellant's intentional refusal to pay his family support obligations and because the deficiency owed was also waived, Appellee was not in contempt. Clearly such a ruling was within the trial court's discretion since the trial court determined that Appellee was unable to make the payments due to Appellant's intentional refusal to pay his support obligations.

---

<sup>1</sup>Besides Appellant's other substantial sources of income, Appellant received \$30,000.00 in separation pay in February of 1992 and therefore could have met his support obligations.

Appellant also argues that "[t]he obligations of the Divorce Decree are separate obligations and should be treated as such." He then cites cases where the court held that generally visitation could not be denied merely because child support obligations had not been paid. However, visitation issues are only concerned with the best interests of the children. Appellant has not alleged that Appellee has denied Appellant any visitation rights.

Appellant claims that the Rohr court "concluded that '[a] court may not deny the noncustodial parent visitation rights for the mere failure to pay child support, where the failure to pay is due to an inability to pay.'" (Applt.. Brief quoting Rohr v. Rohr, 709 P.2d 382, 383 (Utah 1985)). However, this was not the "conclusion" of the Rohr court. The court actually held that because Mr. Rohr intentionally and willfully refused to pay child support and intentionally failed to abide by the court-ordered visitation schedule, the trial court **properly** restricted his visitation rights. Id. at 384.

This is the same as the present case where Appellant intentionally refused to pay his family support obligations, and as a result, the trial court properly restricted his rights under the divorce decree. The Rohr holding was based on the general principle that "equity refuses to lend its aid to a party whose conduct is inequitable." Id. (citing Horton v. Horton, 695 P.2d

102, 107 (Utah 1984) (stating that "he who seeks equity must do equity"); Barbour v. Barbour, 330 P.2d 1093 (Mont. 1958); see also Masters v. Worsley, 777 P.2d 499, 502 (Utah App. 1989)).